NORTHWEST NAZARENE UNIVERSITY

Quick Triage Tool

THESIS Submitted to Department of Math and Computer Science in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of BACHELOR OF SCIENCE

Parker Bartlow 2024

THESIS Submitted to Department of Math and Computer Science in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of BACHELOR OF SCIENCE

Parker Bartlow 2024

Quick Triage Tool

Author:

orker Bartlan Parker Daniel Bartlow Barry Myers

Approved:

Barry Myers, Ph.D., Professor, Department of Mathematics and Computer Science, Faculty Advisor

Approved:

Solu

Mark Michaelson, M.A., M.Ed., Assistant Professor, Department of Academic Services. Second Reader

Approved:

Dale A Hant

Dale Hamilton, Ph.D., Chair, Department of Mathematics and Computer Science

Abstract

Quick Triage Tool.

BARTLOW, PARKER (Department of Mathematics and Computer Science), MYERS, DR. BARRY (Department of Mathematics and Computer Science).

Hewlett-Packard (HP) LaserJet printers undergo rigorous quality testing to confirm they are reliable and efficient before they are sold to the public. Much of the LaserJet firmware testing is automated, producing thousands of failure logs daily. The process of analyzing logs to determine the failure type (triaging) was manual, leading the sheer magnitude of failures to outpace the capabilities of the people responsible for diagnosing them. This project aimed to automate parts of the triage process so that time and effort could be better allocated. The Quick Triage Tool is a full-stack tool that consists of a MongoDB database, C# middle logic, and a Vue is front-end website for database management. From the front-end, users create objects called rules which contain symptoms and represent failure types. Firmware test failure log files are automatically searched against the database of rules, finding failure types when all rule symptoms are matched and displaying results on a common internal website. The automation of the triage process saves time by eliminating manual triaging and by preventing redundant triage efforts. Automation also increases confidence in quality metrics. Lastly, the aggregation of failure types allows failure prioritization, which increases test passing rates and ultimately firmware quality.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my project mentor for his guidance, expertise, patience, and encouragement throughout the time I worked on this project. I would also like to thank my technical mentor for his help learning new programming frameworks and technologies. I would like to thank my manager for guidance and perspective in navigating the professional workforce of my field for the first time. I would also like to thank the other intern that helped in this project for her teamwork and leadership during my first summer. Lastly, I would like to thank my dad for helping me navigate the HP Inc. culture and helping me process the amount of new information I was learning and the challenges I was facing.

Table of Contents

Title Pagei
Committee Signature Pageii
Abstract iii
Acknowledgements iv
List of Figures vii
Introduction1
Project Overview1
Background1
Requirements
Constraints3
Quick Triage Tool Design 4
Requirements Gathering4
The Rule4
Rule Database
Rule Manager Website
Vue.js6
View7
Create8
Test9
Quick Triage Tool API11
Back-End Functionality11
Searching Logic13
Integration with Test Source 115
Pipeline
Displaying Results17
Retroactive Rule Testing19
Integration With Test Source 220
Workflow
Presenting and User Guide
Conclusion

Impact	23
Future Work	24
Review	25
References	
Appendix A: Quick Triage Tool User Guide	

Figure 1. Rule Object Structure	
Figure 2. Rule Manager Website: View	
Figure 3. Rule Manager Website: Create	9
Figure 4. Rule Manager Website: Test	
Figure 5. Axios Call	
Figure 6. LookupDictionary Structure	
Figure 7. RuleList Dictionary Structure	
Figure 8. NoFlyList Structure	14
Figure 9. Test Source One Pipeline	
Figure 10. Test Source One: Display Individual Results	
Figure 11. Test Source One: Display Aggregated Results	19
Figure 12. Test Source Two Integration Web Page	

List of Figures

Introduction

Project Overview

The Quick Triage Tool provides functionality to automatically determine the reasons for firmware test failures once those reasons have been previously discovered. The tool is based on the idea of custom rule objects and consists of a Vue.js front-end website, a MongoDB database, and custom C# searching logic. Rules contain the information necessary to match failed test logs with failure types and are created, edited, tested, and deleted from the Vue.js front-end website. The tool is integrated with two sources of test failures, outputting results to two different locations for the user to see.

Background

One of the many lines of products that HP (Hewlett Packard) Inc. makes is the printer. HP Inc.'s Boise site is the primary location for the business behind and design of the company's LaserJet Printers. Both *The New York Times* and *U.S. News* has an HP LaserJet printer as their top laser printer of 2024 (John, 2024; Keough & Wells, 2024). One of the ways HP Inc. upholds this standard of quality is by rigorous automated testing.

Firmware, the code that runs on the printer's specialized computer, goes through daily automated testing, and produces three thousand to five thousand failed tests each day. Engineers and programmers use this failure information to fix issues before products ever reach customers, ensuring the delivery of high-quality, reliable printers. However, each test failure produces nearly 30 text fail logs, which are files full of obscure and highly technical text strings. These files constitute one failed test bundle and are stored in a .zip file. Specialized programmers, who, for the remainder of this paper will be referred

to as triagers, know what areas of these files typically contain the type of test failure and manually search through and analyze the fail logs to determine why the tests fail.

With thousands of daily test failures, there is no team large enough to manually triage every test failure. This old system leads to several problems. The first is that many test failures are not analyzed each day, meaning if the test's reason for failure is unique, it will not be caught by triagers. A second problem is that since many tests fail for the same reasons, redundant effort is spent rediscovering the same failure types. A third problem arises when a test starts failing for a different, more serious reason than it previously was failing with. In this case, it will not be caught as the test will be assumed to be failing for the same reason it previously was. All of these problems lead to inefficiency in the triaging process and ultimately lower firmware quality than what is possible.

Requirements

To solve this problem, a tool, later called the Quick Triage Tool, was proposed that would automate the triaging process for firmware test failures. For automation to work, there needed to be a way to create and store symptoms of test failure types that have been discovered by triagers. Then, if symptoms of a test failure can be matched in the test failure log files, the failure type can be known without redundant manual effort.

This tool also needed to work with test failures produced from the two different firmware testing sources HP Inc. uses. Both test sources organize fail logs differently and provide unique challenges to integrate with the Quick Triage Tool. Lastly, results from the automated triaging must be displayed in a meaningful way to triagers and other relevant employees.

Constraints

HP Inc. employees in firmware lacked the bandwidth to devote significant time to developing a tool such as the Quick Triage Tool, so the responsibility was given to interns. This meant that work must be completed within the summer internship window, from late May to early August. Additionally, there were cross-team dependencies with an HP Inc. team located in India. This meant that there were small windows of time that both parties were working at the same time, and that much email communication passed through half-day buffers, delaying the speed of progress.

Quick Triage Tool Design

Requirements Gathering

The project mentor had the best understanding of the requirements and goals of the tool. A technical mentor was also available that had more knowledge of the specific frameworks and technologies that were being used. Weekly meetings with these two individuals provided ample space for updates, questions, and additional requirements. The project mentor served as a bridge between the users of the tool, triagers, and the developers of the tool, the interns.

The Rule

A rule is a custom object that represents a test failure type. Rules contain symptoms which are used by the Quick Triage Tool to match to the contents of the fail logs from a test failure. The structure of the rule object is as follows:

> name (String) dateAdded (DateTime) description (String) lowPriority (Bool) symptom (List<custom Symptom object>) logfile (String) searchString (List<String>)

Figure 1. Rule Object Structure

The name of each rule should sufficiently name the test failure type that rule represents, usually in the form of the error code. The dateAdded attribute is automatically populated upon the creation of the rule using the built in DateTime.Now constructor. The description of each rule should provide any additional information about the test failure type past just the name of it.

The lowPriority attribute is used only when two or more rules are matched to a test failure's log files. This, in practice, means that the tool found multiple possible reasons that the firmware test failed. However, if one matched rule has a true value for lowPriority, then the other matched rule is deemed more important and chosen as the true failure type. This is most often used for failure types that involve the testing framework itself, such as a loss of emulator power.

Symptoms are an additional custom object that are nested within the greater rule object. To find the type of test failure, certain error codes or other text strings must be found in specific log files from that failed test. Each symptom contains the name of a logfile and a list of the text strings that should be found in that logfile. Each rule has a list of symptoms, as sometimes multiple matched symptoms are required to determine the type of test failure.

Rule Database

Once a triager manually determines the failure type of a failed firmware test, a rule can be created to represent that failure type, and then used to automatically discover all recurrences of that same failure type. Naturally, this requires that rules be stored somewhere once created.

MongoDB is a NoSQL database, meaning it is less structured and rigorous than its SQL database counterparts (What is NoSQL?, 2024). MongoDB was chosen as the database to store rules because of the complexity of the rule object and the resulting simplicity in database operations with those rules objects. HP Inc. also already had an existing MongoDB server that was easily able to be utilized for this tool. NoSQL databases handle complex objects well, as each item in the database retains the structure of the object stored in it without much additional programming overhead.

Rule Manager Website

Rules represent test failure types, and they can be stored in the MongoDB. However, there must be some way to perform operations on these rules, such as viewing them, creating, deleting, or editing them, and even testing them. To avoid triagers directly accessing the database through a MongoDB application, the creation of a website was chosen as the method of database management. This website is hosted on a local HP Inc. server, limiting access to employees only. The website, plainly called the Quick Triage Rule Manager, consisted of multiple tabs and tools that allowed users to manage the rule database.

Vue.js

The rule manager website was built utilizing the Vue.js framework, an opensource JavaScript user-interface framework that aids and helps organize web page design and functionality (Vue.js, 2024). Many other frameworks could have been used, but this framework was recommended by the project's technical mentor. The best and most utilized features that Vue.js provided were reactivity and component-based architecture. For reactivity, Vue.js uses data binding, meaning that when users changed underlying data such as table data, the table would reflect those changes without requiring a refresh

of the website. The component-based architecture was the most helpful Vue.js feature, as it made user interface (UI) creation and interaction much easier.

Custom components such as the "Test" component can be reused throughout the JavaScript front-end, preventing the need for duplicated and redundant code. For example, since the testing functionality can be accessed from either the testing page from the navigation bar or the individual rule itself in the "View and Manage Rules" page, the component is simply created once and imported to both of those web pages. This modularity increases readability, efficiency, and consistency between web pages. When components are nested and reused, there are child and parent components. Sometimes data must be passed from one component to the other, and Vue.js handles this through the prop object. This provided framework saves a significant amount of manual JavaScript labor. Functions of the rule manager website are listed below.

View

To view the current rules in the database, users select the "View and Manage Rules" page on the website's navigation bar. This page contains a table that pulls the data from each rule in the database and displays the most basic information about the rules: name, data added, and description. Each row corresponds with one rule, and each has four action buttons: edit, delete, information, and test. See Figure 2 below.

≡	Quick	Triage				
		Rules				+
		Search				۹
		Name	Date Added ↓	Description	Actions	
			7/28/2023	IP fax Simulator failed to launch	∕∎ O ŗ	
			7/27/2023	Emulator Command Error: Error: tray1_50 does not support	∕∎ O ŗ	
			7/26/2023	Either Navigation failed or taking long time	× = 0 ;	
		-	7/13/2023	Error Code=0x00	∕≣ O ŗ	
			7/13/2023	does not match expected CRC	∕∎0 ŗ	
			7/13/2023	Assert.AreEqual failed. Expected: <unmarked>. Actual: <mark< th=""><th>∕∎0 ŗ</th><th></th></mark<></unmarked>	∕∎0 ŗ	
			7/13/2023	Missing file	∕∎ ⊕ ŗ	

Figure 2. Rule Manager Website: View

The first action button, "edit", allows you to edit individual attributes of any specific rule, and the second, "delete", allows you to delete a rule completely. The latter may be done if an incorrect rule is found or if that failure type no longer applies to the current firmware testing methods. The third action button, "info", shows a popup with all the rule's attribute values, adding lowPriority and all symptom information. Lastly, the fourth action button, "test", brings you to the test functionality of the website and automatically uses the rule whose "test" button the user clicked on. Testing will be described in greater detail in a following section.

Create

The "Create" web page is devoted to rule creation and can be accessed by either the navigation bar or the red plus from the "View and Manage Rules" page in Figure x.

From here, users can add any number of symptoms to their rule, but accuracy and correctness is heavily emphasized. See the empty "Create" page in Figure 3 below.

≡	QuickTriage	
	Crea	ite
		Rule
		Title
		Description
		<i>l</i> .
		Low Priority This Rule will be ignored if multiple rules match with the same file. Most rules should NOT be low priority.
		Symptoms
	I	ADD SYMPTOM +
	I	SUBMIT

Figure 3. Rule Manager Website: Create

Test

Rather than relying on each user's comprehensive and perfect knowledge of all failure types, a rule testing functionality is provided to ensure rule correctness and accuracy. The "Test" web page can be accessed either from the navigation bar or from the "View and Manage Rules" page. The testing functionality requires two inputs from the user: the path of a failed test bundle and the ruleID of the rule that is being tested. Ideally, once a triager discovers a new failure type, they would create a rule to catch that failure, then test it here. They would input both the ruleID of their newly created rule and the path of a failed test bundle that they have manually confirmed to fail for the reason stated by their rule. See Figure 4 below for the "Test" page.

≡	Quick	Triage
		Test a Rule
		This will run a more advanced search and show you what parts of your Rule match with the log file and what parts do not.
		Log File Path
		Rule ID
		TEST 🔻
		Strings Found:
		Strings/Logfiles Not Found:
		Rules that Match this Logfile (if any):

Figure 4. Rule Manager Website: Test

Below the test button, there are three categories of results from testing a rule. If a rule is not correct, it is because not all of its search strings within its symptoms were found in the log files. The first category, "Strings Found:" provides which of the tested rule's search strings were correctly found in the log files. The second category, "Strings/Logfiles Not Found:", provides which of the search strings were not found in the log files. Lastly, the third category, "Rules that Match this Logfile (if any):" provides the names of any additional rules that successfully fully matched with the failed test bundle.

This last result is helpful because the goal for the Quick Triage Tool is for each test failure to only match with a single rule. This testing information provides the user with enough information to see which parts of their rule are incorrect and if there are other rules that match, either because another user created a rule for the failure type already or other rules in the database are incorrect themselves.

Quick Triage Tool API

The Vue.js front-end JavaScript website on its own does nothing, as something needs to operate in between it and the rule database to handle the commands and transfer of data. This middleware is called an application programming interface (API), which connects the front-end and the back-end (Frye, n.d.). The Quick Triage Tool's implementation, the Triage Rules API, uses the REST API (Representational State Transfer Application API) architecture provided by ASP.NET and is written in C# (What is ASP.NET?, 2024). This API also handles the searching logic that matches rules to the log files found in failed test bundles.

Back-End Functionality

The REST API architecture is based on standard HTTP (Hypertext Transfer Protocol) methods GET, POST, PUT, and DELETE. Like other architectures, REST API uses unique URL (Uniform Resource Locator) endpoints for API functions. Additionally, REST API is a client-server architecture, which allows users to connect to the website (server) from their own devices (clients) over a network. This API is hosted on a local HP Inc. server that is on their private network. Vue.js front-end operations discussed previously, such as the test a rule functionality, send an HTTP request to the API through a button press. A client module called Axios was installed to the front-end and allowed for easy HTTP requests that used the API URL endpoints to connect (Getting Started. Axios, 2024). For example, when a user presses "Test", a JavaScript event-handler is fired off and sends an axios.get() request to the API's test endpoint, which is roughly of the form <IP address>/TriageRulesAPI/rules/test. In code, this may look like Figure 5 below.

return axios.get('\${IPAddress}/TriageRulesAPI/rules/test

Figure 5. Axios Call

The axios client sends the packaged HTTP GET request to that API endpoint, and as long as the HTTP method matches the GET request (API method is a HTTP GET method), the request will successfully start up the correct API method.

The Triage Rules API also needs to be able to communicate directly with the MongoDB that the rules are stored in. For example, when users try to delete a rule on the rule manager website, the Axios request connects to the corresponding Triage Rules API endpoint, which then needs to contact the MongoDB and delete the specified rule. MongoDB provides a driver that can be installed to .NET applications to contact a MongoDB. The Triage Rules API uses the Rules MongoDB connection string to connect and verify the validity of the connection request.

Searching Logic

The Triage Rules API is not only responsible for handling requests between the rule manager website and the Rules MongoDB, but also houses the searching logic that matches rules to failed test bundles. The hierarchy and logic behind the searching operation is relatively complex, so this next section will go into it in depth.

The overall order and hierarchy of searching starts with the .zip file that houses the failed test log files. These log files are iterated through one at a time. Each time a log file is opened, it needs to be searched against the rules in the database at the time to look for matches.

However, there are several considerations and optimizations that speed up the brute-force nature of this approach. First, once the rule data is pulled from the database, a new dictionary called LookupDictionary is created with log files as the key. For each dictionary entry and log file key, there is a list of SearchData objects, each containing a rule ID and the corresponding search strings that should be found. See Figure 6 for the LookupDictionary structure.

> Key: logFile (string) Value: List<SearchData> SearchData ruleID (string) List<searchString (string)>

Figure 6. LookupDictionary Structure

This is a different organization than previous methods, where each item is a rule, and each of those rules could have multiple log files associated with them. Now each item is a logfile with the possibility of multiple rules associated with them. This means that if one rule has two symptoms (search strings to be found in two separate log files), it would be present in two LookupDictionary entries.

The result of this reorganization of data is that the program knows every relevant symptom of the entire rules database that needs to be searched for in a given log file. Returning to the previous general order of the search, the program looks at one log file at a time. Upon looking at a log file, the LookupDictionary is searched for an entry with the key equal to that log file. If one is found, the log file is opened, and the SearchData objects are iterated through. Log files are not opened if there are no relevant symptoms to be searched for in it, which speeds to process up as file opening is slow. This way, every rule that has a symptom in this log file is being searched for.

This brings up the next two new data structures, called the RuleList and NoFlyList. The RuleList is a dictionary used to keep track of whether a rule has been matched to a test failure bundle or not. The RuleList structure is in Figure 7 below.

Dict<key: ruleID (string); value: bool>

Figure 7. RuleList Dictionary Structure

All rules in the rule database are listed here, and all values start with the value true. Once a search string is not found in a log file, the corresponding rule ID in RuleList for that search string (found from the SearchData object in that LookupDictionary entry) is set to false because if even one search string is not present where it should be, the rule is not a match. The next step involves the use of the NoFlyList, which takes the form of Figure 8 below.

List<ruleID (string)>

Figure 8. NoFlyList Structure

Once a search string is not found and the RuleList entry for that rule is set to false, that ruleID is added to the NoFlyList. While the search iterates through SearchData entries, the search strings are only searched for in the log files if the correspond ruleID is not found in the NoFlyList. Once a rule's search string is not found, the corresponding symptom cannot be found, and there is no need to search for that rule's other symptoms. This increases the speed of the search and eliminates redundant searches.

RuleList contains the final results of a search, and a method called GetTopRule iterates through the RuleList entries that have values true. It will return the matched rule (with RuleList value true) that has a lowPriority value of false. If there is more than one matched rule with lowPriority false, a random matched rule is returned, but there is a mistake in the structure of the rules which can be fixed through rule testing on the rule manager website.

Integration with Test Source 1

The tool functionality is present, however, a pipeline or workflow needed to be created to automate the flow of test failures into the tool's searching logic. The first source that test failures were produced from was simpler to integrate with the Quick Triage Tool, so the pipeline that was created functioned completely automatically.

Pipeline

Because the production of test failures may outpace the speed of the Quick Triage Tool at any point, the consumption of test failure bundles by the tool had to be asynchronous, but also needed a queueing ability. RabbitMQ (Rabbit Message Queue) is software that performs just these functions (RabbitMQ: One Broker to Queue Them All, 2024). RabbitMQ was already utilized by HP Inc. and hosted on an internal server. A new queue called Triage was created for this project, and the project's technical mentor connected the first test source with this queue. When firmware tests failed from this first test source, the failure bundles were sent to the Triage RabbitMQ queue.

This queue required the creation of a separate program called QuickTriageListener, which was a simple C# script that is continuously ran on the same common server as the API and is accessed via a virtual machine (VM). This script uses the RabbitMQ.Client library to enqueue a failed test bundle from the Triage queue if it has received an acknowledgement from the Triage Rules API that its resources are unused and available. The QuickTriageListener sends failed test bundles to the Triage Rules API for processing and searching, and once the API has finished, it sends acknowledgement back to the Listener so that it can enqueue its next failure bundle. If there is an unusually large volume of failure bundles, this queueing system ensures that the API is not overloaded and that all failure bundles are processed accordingly. See Figure 9 below, which is a flowchart for the test source one pipeline.



Figure 9. Test Source One Pipeline

Displaying Results

Firmware test data has been displayed on an internal HP Inc. website for quite some time, so the natural solution to where to display the matched rule results from our tool would be this website. The HP Inc. team in India runs this internal website, so the task required direct communication and cooperation with them, resulting in a new API endpoint they created on their website's API for our tool to send results to.

The internal firmware testing website already contained tables where each row corresponded to a firmware test. The HP Inc. India team's solution was to add an extra column to this table to list and link the rule that matched the test (if any). See Figure 10 below.



Figure 10. Test Source One: Display Individual Results

Triagers can use this table to find which firmware test failures do not match with rules, download the failed test bundle, and manually determine the reason for the test failure. Upon manually diagnosing the failure type, they can create a new rule to catch that failure, test it, and eventually see that result on the internal website.

Matched rule results from the Quick Triage Tool also contributed to a completely new table the HP India team created on the internal firmware testing website. In this table, each row represented a rule, which represents a test failure type. This table aggregates occurrences of rule matches, which provides crucial and invaluable information that will be discussed in the conclusion of this paper. See Figure 11 below for the aggregation table.

Test Failure	s <mark>M</mark> ap	ping Summary	12	^
Products	Pla	tform		3
			Issues	<u>.</u>
Name	\$	Description 🔶	Found	
		The test did not complete. May not actually be a test timeout due to a previous test executed in the test track timing out.	607	
-		Test failed for some UI piece. Please look at the screen shot to see if it gives any clues as to wh at was causing the failure to occur. 1) sometimes message center is up or a tray loading prompt will stop the flow of the test 2) did an icon that was expected to change, didn't become available 3) did the UI flow change by a recent code commit. This one isn't likely. If this is intermittent, ask yourself what timing am I really dependent upon for this test.	441	
		Test failed with exception: The master file was not found.	380	
-		A connection attempt failed because the connected party did not properly respond after a perio d of time, or established connection failed because connected host has failed to respond 192.1	172	

Figure 11. Test Source One: Display Aggregated Results

Retroactive Rule Testing

With this automated pipeline, there is one large problem that can occur. Automated firmware tests execute regularly, but at different intervals. Some tests may only execute once every two weeks, for example. Consider a two-week test that fails and doesn't match with a rule. A triager may analyze it the next day, determine the new failure, and add a new rule to the database to catch it. However, it will be nearly two weeks before the test runs again with the new rule matching it and getting displayed. This significantly delays the speed at which firmware problems are found and fixed.

To counteract this problem, retroactive rule testing was implemented. A short C# script was created that sent an HTTP request to the Triage Rules API's searching logic method to retrigger it. First, however, the most recent test failure bundles had to be pulled

from the network file share. Normally, failure bundles were sent to the Triage queue upon failure, then sent to the API. But, with this retriggering, the searching logic still needed access to the most recent failure bundles for each firmware test. The HP Inc. team in India provided a URL to access the most recent test failure bundles and their corresponding matched rule from our tool (if it exists). Next, this script was set to run twice a day by utilizing Windows Task Scheduler. This way, if there are any changes in failures for tests with a long interval between executions, they will be known within twelve hours at the most. New retroactive search results are only sent to the results website if the matched rule is different than the previously matched rule for a failed test bundle.

Integration With Test Source 2

The second test source for automated firmware testing is much more complicated. An automated integration of the Quick Triage Tool and this second test source would require much more time and resources than were available for this intern project. Instead, a manual workflow was implemented to leverage the Quick Triage Tool's capabilities with the second test source.

Workflow

Since there was no realistic way to automate the pipeline of failed test bundles from the second test source to the Quick Triage Tool, it was decided to add a page to the Rule Manager website. This page contained a manual integration with the second test source, requiring. Failed test bundles from the second test source are also stored on the same network file share as the first test source, but the file hierarchy differs. The same

level of file path as the first test source results in a .zip file full of .zip files that each contain the log files that constitute a failed test bundle. This additional layer was handled through some simple file extension checking using both the Directory and Path classes in C#'s provided System.IO library.

The new web page on the rule manager website is dedicated to searching failed test bundles from the second test source manually. There is input for the user to enter the path of a .zip of failed test bundles, then a button to begin the searching process. The search uses the same searching logic from the Triage Rules API as the test source one pipeline. See Figure 12 below to see this additional web page along with its results from a search.

=	QuickTria	je.	
		Search Triage Zip Folder	
		This will run a search against existing rules for a job, outputting results in the table below.	
		Log File Path	
		SEARCH Q	
		Test	Matched Rule
		zip	Internal error in testl Inconsistent or unexpected statel
		zig	No Rule Found
		zie	No Rule Found
		zip	No Rule Found
		zio	No Rule Found
		ZIQ	Crash Log 🜒
		ZIR	Crash Log 🜑
		<u>up</u>	Crash Log 🚯

Figure 12. Test Source Two Integration Web Page

Firmware tests that execute from the second test source are not included on the same internal firmware testing website, so Quick Triage Tool results had to be displayed elsewhere. Since .zips from the second test source included several failed test bundle .zips, the search logic runs multiple times and finds a matching rule for each inner .zip failed test bundle. These results populate a table component on the web page. This table's first column has the path of each failed test bundle, and the second column contains the rule that matched, if any. Users can download a CSV containing the table data to their own machine since there is no existing common website to share this data.

By searching a .zip full of failed test bundles, a triager can see which bundles did not match with a rule. At that point, the triager can download the failed test bundle to their machine by clicking on the path in the left column. Once they have manually discovered the failure type of that failed test, they can add a rule to the database and rerun that search to see if a rule now matches it. While this workflow involves more manual work than the pipeline of test source one, it still greatly improves the efficiency of the triaging process.

Presenting and User Guide

Once the Quick Triage Tool was in a working state, the tool had to be marketed and taught to the triaging team, which is largely based in India. A user guide PowerPoint was created that walked through the new, refined triaging process step-by-step. This PowerPoint was explained to the team over Zoom but is comprehensive enough by itself to guide a triager to the correct use of the tool. The PowerPoint itself was put on the team's SharePoint site so that they could reference it as they learned the tool themselves. See Appendix A for a redacted version of this user guide.

Conclusion

Impact

The Quick Triage Tool is a comprehensive and multi-faceted tool, but its impacts can be summarized into three areas.

The first impact of this tool is that it eliminates the need to spend effort and time rediscovering previously known failure types. Once a failure type has been manually discovered, the Quick Triage Tool will discover every subsequent occurrence of the same failure type automatically.

The second impact of this tool is issue prioritization which is possible through the aggregation of rule match occurrences by the HP Inc. team in India. Employees responsible for fixing firmware issues can prioritize which issues to fix first by which rule has the most matches to firmware test failures. Once higher-prioritization issues are fixed, the number of failed firmware tests dramatically decreases.

The third impact of this tool is that it improves the company's confidence in their quality metrics. In the previous manual triaging workflow, once a test failure type was found, that was assumed to be the reason for failure for every subsequent failed execution of that test. However, the reason that a firmware test fails can change between test executions, especially to a more harmful failure type. The old system would not catch this change, however, through the automation of the Quick Triage Tool, it would either return a rule for the new test failure reason, or not return a rule at all because the failure type is new. This means that test passing and failing rates are now more accurate, and the

company's list of ongoing firmware issues and their prevalence should also be more accurate.

All of these impacts and features of the tool fall under two broad improvements. Because of the new, efficient, and expedited process, the Quick Triage Tool ultimately increases printer firmware quality. The effort of triagers can be better allocated to discovering new failures, and resources can be better spent on tackling the most prevalent and pressing issues first. Along with increasing printer firmware quality, the Quick Triage Tool also ushers in quality-of-life improvements for triagers, especially because redundant work is eliminated. The firmware testing triage process has been completely upgraded and refined.

Future Work

The Quick Triage Tool could be improved by adding automatic integration with the second test source. The current manual integration works well but is slower than the automatic pipeline that exists for the first test source. Additionally, the prioritization benefits of the aggregation of matched rules are not available in the manual second test source integration. This would be a major advantage if there was an automated pipeline from test source two to the Quick Triage Tool.

HP LaserJet printers are in the process of transitioning to a new codebase based in C++ instead of C#. With this change, the firmware testing process will change. The current Quick Triage Tool pipelines would no longer work, but the logic behind the tool can be universally applied, so a new version of the Quick Triage Tool could be made to work with the new codebase. The benefits of the tool are too good not to leverage.

HP Inc. uses bug-tracking software to track progress on firmware issues that are in progress of being fixed. Future work could include integration of this bug-tracking software with rules, so that employees can see how close the failure type a rule represents is to being fixed.

Lastly, more effort could be spent to market the Quick Triage Tool to encourage greater use amongst triagers and other departments. The tool works the best when everyone is using it and making rules to cover all new failure types. At the presentation of this tool, several separate departments outside of firmware took great interest, wondering if similar tools could be made for the testing they perform.

Review

The Quick Triage Tool is a tool created to automate the process of discovering the failure types of failed firmware tests. The tool is based on a custom object called a rule that represents test failure types. It involves a Vue.js front-end website to manage the rules which are stored in a MongoDB database. The Triage Rules API connects the two, along with housing the searching logic to match rules to failed test bundles. An automated pipeline exists to pull failed test bundles from one test source, run them through the tool, and display results on an internal website. The second test source has manual integration with the tool. The Quick Triage Tool significantly improves the efficiency of the triaging process, ultimately leading to higher printer firmware quality.

References

- Broadcom. (2024). *RabbitMQ: One broker to queue them all*. RabbitMQ. https://www.rabbitmq.com/
- Frye, M.-K. (n.d.). *What is an API?*. MuleSoft. https://www.mulesoft.com/resources/api/what-is-an-api
- Getting started. Axios. (2024). https://axios-http.com/docs/intro
- John, S. (2024, February 1). *Best laser printers of 2024: Expert picked | U.S. news*. U.S. News & World Report. <u>https://www.usnews.com/360-reviews/technology/best-laser-printers</u>
- Keough, B., & Wells, K. (2024, April 1). *The best laser printer*. The New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/wirecutter/reviews/best-laser-printer/
- Microsoft. (2024). What is ASP.NET?. Microsoft .NET. https://dotnet.microsoft.com/enus/learn/aspnet/what-is-aspnet
- MongoDB. (2024). What is NoSQL?. MongoDB. https://www.mongodb.com/nosql-explained

Vue.js. (2024). https://vuejs.org/guide/introduction.html



Purpose

- The Quick Triage Tool (QTT) automates some of the triaging workflow, making your job easier!
- By keeping track of discovered failures and having an automated searching system, you don't need to spend time rediscovering known failures.
- Allows you to spend your time finding unique failures.

Process Overview The Rule Manager website allows you to manage a database of rules. Rules are custom objects that represent failures (ex. ______crash) Failed firmware test logs can get sent through the QTT and searched against this rule database, returning the matched rule for the failed test run. For Test Source 1, the process is automated. You only create rules based on what you see from the results website, and the results are output on the results website. For Test Source 2, you'll need the path of a failed test run on the network share as input to make the search happen, and the results output as a table on the Rule Manager Website.

1. Rule Manager Website (1)

This section is a walkthrough of the QTT Rule Manager Website and its functionality. Please refer back to this section when reading about the Test Source 1 and Test Source

E QuickTriage		
Welcome to the QuickTriage Ru	lle Manager	
This Quick Talays Rule Manager web page menagers the Bule adjusts they are unrugat. Bulk Manager web pages and the Sympton adjusts which the mend where control your Bules. This pages in set solar development	at control output on Tou can create, edit, d program uses to match Rutes to fail logs. A single S if you have any questions, concerns, or suggestions	eele and led Rales fors here. The same to add Rales that are unspan. Though this application can handle reamleping takes, they will be noted useful when protein suprotes s up the tor a bit of dramps. Thus you will not match with a up the unites all of the dynaptions in the Rale match competing. Keep this in clinics them is the diversity based on the Albed page.
		As a general note, when
		navigating popups, use
		the 'CLOSE' button in

Rule Manage	r Website (2)	
Rule: a custom object repromatch)	esenting a failure type (ex.	crash, CRC does not
-ruleID	Name:	CRC does not match
-name	ID:	64b0675e066d53672549988d
description	Description:	does not match expected CRC
-description	Low Priority Date Added:	true 7/13/2023 3 06:44 PM
-date	Searches for:	
-lowPriority		log
-symptoms		does not match expected CRC
 LowPriority (true/false) allow with true LowPriority will be exact match. Rules with true 	vs you to prioritize rules. If multiple ignored. Rules with false LowPriori LowPriority may be symptoms rath	rules match a test failure, the rules ty should be the most specific and ier than root test failure causes.
 A symptom contains a logfile multiple symptoms 	and any associated search string(s) with that log file. Rules can have

• View crea crea	e Manager v rules in the databa ting new rules all fr te and test rules fro	we ase and om the om eith	bsite (3) edit, delete, get info View and Manage Ru er this page or the tas	on, and test les Page (no kbar).	them, along with tice you can
= QuickTriage	Rules			۲	
ff Home	Search			<u> </u>	
View and Manage Rules	Kate	Data Astrad ϕ (8)	Description	Actions	
+ Create a Rulo	49.27.51	7/13/2023	Error Cooe-childe#2151	/ = 0 1	
🌹 Test a Rule	LLPrint CRC does not match	7/13/2023	does not match expected CRC	/ 101	
Manual Search	Expected Unmarked page	7/13/2023	Assert.AveEqual failed. Expected -Ummarked+. Actual -Mark	/ = 0 1	
	Internal error in test? Inconsistent or unexpected stated	7/13/2023	Missing file (HP-Common System OS Memory Profile Default	/ 101	
Search	Copy: Mesing Master	7/12/2020	Test failed with exception. The master life was not found.	/ = 0 1	CLOSE
① About	cEncryptionStatusColon missing string	7/12/2025	Expected. "Hard Disk Encryption Status.", Actual. "(JCEn	/ = 0 5	
	No Notification Jub Info	7/12/2023	AssetUsTice failed. Notification job information was no	/ 101	
	No FBDuplex Prompt	7/12/2025	Assert.Is True failed. Did not receive the FlatbedDuplex p	/ = 0 1	When viewing rule info 🛛 ,
	DS Comparison Failed	7/12/2023	Assert/s/live failed. Comparison to master failed, check	/ 101	click (VIEW ON CONTRACTOR / to
	LLPrint page xint CRC failure	7/1/2023	does not match page#.xmi CRC	/ = 0 1	
	Black Cartridge Low Not Found	7/10/2023	Test rule for now, can edit later	/ 101	be taken to a summary page
	Test Lost Connection	7/10/2023	Test rule for now, can edit later	/ = 0 1	with how many instances of
	TestCleanupFaled	7102023	Test rule for now, can edit later	/ = 0 1	this rule have been found
	MessageCenter No start button	7/6/2023	Found button named 'Exit', expected name 'Start'.	/ 101	this fulle have been found
PerforentContext missing in ConfigPageContext xml 6/21/2023			Assert is frue failed. An element attribute in PerinentCo	/ 101	(Test Source 1 only).
				lassparpage tš = 1-5-0196 ()	

Rule Mana	ger Website (4)	
 Rules need to be a well. Rules should be <u>u</u> Rules should be sp Rules should be to sp 	s accurate and user-friendly as poss nique. pecific (general rules should be lowPriority ested to assure they work as expected.	sible for the tool to work)
=	Cucchinge Create	
	The Description	Using the 'ADD SYMPTOM +' button, you can add multiple symptoms to one rule. You can also add multiple search strings to one symptom.
	tomat 🖉	

 Rules should be tested upon ci Rules should also be tested if t 	reation to make sure they function as expected.
sta Rule	Test a Rule
ill run a more advanced search and show you what parts of your Rule match with the log life and shat parts do not.	The will not a more advanced search and shore you what parts of your fluid match with the log like and what parts do not.
0	
d di not match with this log life, if there was an error, there could be a problem with the log path you entered. gs Found:	Characterization (Characterization)
ngs Not Found: In that Match this Logfile (if any):	Bandings Found:
	BitIngs/Logilies Not Found:
	Rules that Match this Logilie (if any): Crath Log @
	Societhopton @



Test S	Source 1 Pro	cess (2)				
• From th	the results website hom $\rightarrow <$	ne page, naviga > → <	te to Tests → • click on a 'F	ailed' number (ex	■ ×. 14)	
	Result	ts website link here:				
	Tiers Products Execution Type Flatform Stability					
	2 Auto					
	Asset	Passed	Failed 0	% Passed		
		10	4	71%		
		13	0	100%		
		24	0	100%		
		18	1	94%		



Test Source 1 Process (4)

- If you'd like, you can view an aggregation of the rules and how many times they have been found in test failures on the results website. This allows issue prioritization!
- Navigate to Tests → Test Failures Mapping

Test Failures	Mapping Summary	11	^
Products	Platform		
		III •	≛-
Name	0 Description 0	Issues Found	
-	The test did not complete. May not actually be a test timeout due to a previous test executed in the test track timing out.	607	
-	Test failed for some UI piece. Piease look at the screen shot to see if it gives any clues as to wh at was causing the failure to occur. It sometimes message center is up or a tray loading pompt will also the hor of the test 2 (3) data incom that was expected to change, dith become variable 3) dd the UI flow change by a recent code commit. This one init likely, if this is intermittent, ask yourself what timing an I really dependent upon for this test.	441	
	Test failed with exception: The master file was not found.	380	
_	A connection attempt failed because the connected party did not properly respond after a perio d of time, or established connection failed because connected host has failed to respond 192.1 (e 1 1 0)	172	

Test Source 1 Process (5)

Last Changes!/Next...

- As a note, we have added retroactive rule searching, meaning that every 12 hours or so, the QTT will search the rules database against all the recent test fail tips.
- This means that you should see the results of adding a new rule within 12 hours instead of waiting for the test to run and fail again.



0%



Test Source 2 Process (5)

• Find a test that did not match with a rule ("No Rule Found"). Go back to the test source 2 website and search for the test (excluding the date and run information, i.e. the red highlighted part) to download the fail logs of that test. Manually find this new failure so that you can add a new rule in the database to catch it.

EdgeToEdgePrintRA4Simplex.1.20230720-152232.zip	SocketException ()
EdgeToEdgePrintStatementSimplex.1.20230720-154114.zip	SocketException ()
HalftonesBasicAHTFalse 1.20230720-140903.zip	Crash Log 🕖
HalftonesDetalAHTTrue_1.20230720-122148 zip	No Rule Found
LateRotationSmallMediaDuplex.120230720-072147.zlp	No Rule Found
M_Mono_1200_A4_Duplex_Q8y10.1.20230719-104608.zip	Crash Log (0

Test Source 2 Process (6)	
 Create a new rule for your failure. You can test the rule w you found it from to make sure it successfully matches. 	vith the test failure .zip

• Now that the new rule is in the database, try running the Test Source 2 search again. Not only should that failed test now match with your new rule, but other failed tests may also match with your new rule.



Test Source 2 Process (8)

Last Changes! Next...

- We added:
 - Sort by 'Matched Rule' on the results table
 - Links on each .zip in the results table to make it easier to find the fail logs

Questions?		
Contact		